BYLAWS

<u>ARTICLE VI — BOARD OF DIRECTORS</u>

Section 1 — Eligibility

Individual members who have been a member in good standing for a minimum of two (2) years shall be eligible to hold office and serve on the Board. The officer positions of president, first vice-president, second vice-president, secretary, and treasurer require prior AAHN Board experience. Service on a committee, sub-committee, and/or taskforce of the AAHN is preferred prior to serving on the Board. The position of Director of Awards and Director of Research Review have additional eligibility requirements noted in Article VII – Standing Committees, Sections 3. B. and 7. B.

Section 2 — Composition

The officers of AAHN shall be the president, first vice-president, second vice-president, secretary, and treasurer. The Board shall consist of the officers and directors. For a period of two (2) years, the immediate past president shall serve as an ex-officio non-voting member of the Board. The executive director shall serve as an ex-officio non-voting member of the Board.

The directors that serve on the Board include:

- Awards Committee Chair
- Publications Committee Chair
- Finance Committee Elected Director
- Bylaws and Policies Committee Chair
- Research Review Committee Chair
- Communications Committee Chair
- Diversity and Inclusion Committee Chair

- Membership Committee Chair
- Nursing History Education Committee Chair

Section 3 — Authority and Duties of the Board

All powers of AAHN are vested in and shall be exercised by the Board during the interim between membership meetings, except that the Board may not nullify or modify any action taken at the membership meetings, and subject to the provisions of these Bylaws and adopted policies. Management by the Board shall include the following duties:

- A. Appoint an executive director who shall be the administrative officer and general manager of AAHN. The executive director shall be accountable to the Board and shall carry out such responsibilities in connection with the duties of the position as specified by the Board and within approved budget limitations
- B. Manage the business of AAHN and maintain a permanent headquarters.
- C. Monitor the achievement of organizational objectives and mandates of the membership, and define and approve all policies.
- D. Approve and monitor the annual AAHN budget.
- E. Receive and accept an independent Certified Public Accountant (CPA) review as requested by the Board.
- F. Appoint work groups to address specific needs of AAHN.
- G. Review and approve the terms of official relationships established with other agencies, organizations, or corporations and approve any commitment in the form of action, statement of policy or position, and/or financial obligations involved in such relationships.
- H. Have the power to fill vacancies on the Board and Nominating Committee for an unexpired term, unless otherwise specified in these Bylaws.
- I. Have the option of removing a Board member from office if said Board member fails to fulfill his/her responsibilities as defined in these Bylaws and policies of AAHN. This action will require a three-fourth (3/4) vote of the Board present and voting, provided a quorum is present.
- J. In case of emergency, action by teleconference call or other electronic means may be taken by the Board, provided the same information is conveyed to each Board member prior to the vote.

Section 4 — Executive Committee

- A. The five (5) elected officers and the executive director, without vote, shall serve as the Executive Committee.
- B. The Executive Committee shall have the power to transact business between the meetings of the Board when the business cannot wait until the next regularly scheduled Board meeting. All transactions of this Committee shall be reported in full at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. The Executive Committee may conduct business by teleconference call or other electronic means. All Board members shall be notified of any actions taken by the Executive Committee within two (2) weeks of the Executive Committee meeting.

C. The Executive Committee shall have the power to approve the annual budget.

Section 5 — Election and Terms

- A. The president, second vice-president, treasurer, and four (4) directors shall be elected in even numbered years, for a two (2) year term, or until a successor(s) is elected or appointed.
- B. The first vice-president, secretary, and four (4) directors shall be elected in odd numbered years, for a two (2) year term, or until a successor(s) is elected or appointed.
- C. No officer or director shall serve more than two (2) consecutive elected terms in the same office.
- D. Officers and directors may not serve for more than six (6) consecutive years on the Board except if elected to a higher position, in which case, he/she may serve in accordance with the provisions specific to the newly elected position.
- E. In the event of a tie vote, a run-off election shall be held within two (2) weeks of the first election. If the run-off election results in a tie, choice will be by lot.
- F. If an officer or director is appointed to complete an unexpired term, he/she shall be eligible to be elected in accordance with Section 5, items A through D.

Section 6 — Vacancies

- A. A vacancy on the Board, other than the president, shall be filled by appointment for the remainder of the term, if deemed essential, by the Board. Written notice of such actions must be provided to the members by communiqué as appropriate.
- B. In the event of a vacancy in the position of president, the first vice-president shall assume the position of president for the remainder of the term.
- C. In the event of a vacancy in the position of first vice-president, the second vice-president shall assume the position of first vice-president for the remainder of the term.
- D. Filling a vacancy, other than those specified in Section 6, items B and C, requires two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Board present and voting, provided a quorum is present.

Section 7 — Duties of Officers and Directors

A. The President shall:

- 1. Serve as the principal officer of AAHN and preside at all organizational meetings of the Board, the Executive Committee, and the membership.
- 2. Serve as ex-officio member of all committees without vote, except the Nominating Committee.
- 3. Determine the agenda for meetings in consultation with the executive director.
- 4. Serve as official representative of AAHN.
- 5. Be responsible for providing an annual report to the membership.
- 6. Appoint committees and their chairpersons (with the exception of the Nominating Committee), subject to approval by the Board, and make other appointments as necessary.
- 7. Empower the executive director to oversee the tabulation of AAHN's election ballots.

- 8. Have such powers and perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Board.
- B. The First Vice-President shall:
 - 1. Accede to the office of president in the event of a vacancy.
 - 2. Preside in the absence of the president.
 - 3. Serve as chair of the Strategic Planning Committee.
 - 4. Perform other duties as assigned by the president and/or Board.
- C. The Second Vice-President shall:
 - 1. Preside in the absence of the president and first vice-president.
 - 2. Serve as chair of the Program Planning Committee.
 - 3. Perform other duties as assigned by the Board.
- D. The Secretary shall:
 - 1. Prepare minutes of all organizational meetings of the Board, the Executive Committee, and the membership.
 - 2. Perform other duties as assigned by the Board.
- E. The Treasurer shall:
 - 1. Act as custodian of the Association funds.
 - 2. Report the Association fund balances to the Board.
 - 3. Ensure that an independent CPA review is conducted as requested by the Board and annual tax-returns are prepared and filed according to Association policy.
 - 4. Serve as chairperson of the Finance Committee.
 - 5. Be responsible for providing an annual financial report to the membership.
 - 6. Oversee investment opportunities as directed by the Board.
 - 7. Oversee, in coordination with the executive director, the preparation of a draft budget for the next fiscal year for approval by the Board.
 - 8. Perform other duties as assigned by the Board.
- F. Each of the Directors shall:
 - 1. Chair a Standing Committee or serve as a key representative to a committee or other workgroup.
 - 2. Perform such duties as assigned by the president in accordance with the priorities and needs of AAHN.

<u>ARTICLE VII — STANDING COMMITTEES</u>

Section 1 — Program Planning Committee, Pre-Conference Planning Subcommittee, and Abstract Review Subcommittee

- A. Program Planning Committee:
 - 1. Responsibilities:
 - a. Coordinate the annual conference program in cooperation with the Local Arrangements Committee, Pre-Conference Planning Subcommittee, and Abstract Review Subcommittee chairpersons and in accordance with the policies of AAHN.
 - b. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.
 - 2. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:

- a. The elected second vice-president shall serve as chair.
- b. The chairperson of the Abstract Review Subcommittee shall serve as a committee member for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
- c. A representative of the Local Arrangements Committee shall serve as a committee member for a one (1) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
- d. The immediate past second vice-president shall serve as a committee member for a one (1) year term.
- e. The past chairpersons of the Program Planning Committee and Abstract Review Subcommittee shall serve as committee members for a one (1) year term to provide continuity.
- f. The chairperson will appoint two (2) individual AAHN members, with the approval of the president, to serve on the committee for a two (2) year term
- B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment of the Program Planning Subcommittees:
 - 1. Pre-Conference Planning Subcommittee:
 - a. Responsibilities
 - 1. Coordinate the pre-conference for the annual conference program in cooperation with the Program Planning Committee and Local Arrangements Committee and in accordance with the policies of AAHN.
 - b. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:
 - 1. The chairperson, appointed by the president, shall serve a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
 - 2. Two (2) individual AAHN members who shall be appointed by the Chairperson, with approval of the president, shall serve as subcommittee members for a staggered two (2) year term, or until a successor(s) is appointed.
 - 2. The Abstract Review Subcommittee:
 - a. Responsibilities:
 - 1. Solicit and recommend to the Program Planning Committee chairperson abstracts for papers, posters, and thematics to be presented at the Annual Conference in accordance with the policies of AAHN.
 - b. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:
 - 1. The chairperson, appointed by the president, shall serve a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
 - 2. Four (4) individual AAHN members, appointed by the president with the approval of the Board, shall serve as subcommittee members for a staggered two (2) year term, or until a successor(s) is appointed.

Section 2 — Strategic Planning Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Perform ongoing assessment of the mission, purposes, structure, trends, and programs of AAHN.
- 2. Develop recommendations for strategies to achieve the mission and purposes of AAHN
- 3. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.
- B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:
 - 1. The first vice-president shall serve as the chair.
 - 2. The immediate past president shall serve for two (2) years.
 - 3. The elected director of strategic planning shall serve as a committee member for a two (2) year term.
 - 4. Two (2) individual AAHN members shall be recommended to the president by the chairperson for appointment, with approval of the Board, to serve as committee members a two (2) year term, or until a successor(s) is appointed.

Section 3 — Awards Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Solicit nominations for the Association awards.
- 2. Select the recipients of the awards using subcommittees for each Association award. The subcommittees shall evaluate the nominations and select the award recipients according to the criteria and policies of AAHN.
- 3. Notify the Board of the recipients.
- 4. Arrange for presentation of the awards to the recipients.
- B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:
 - 1. The elected director of awards shall serve as chair.
 - 2. The members of the committee shall consist of the chairpersons of each of the Awards Subcommittees.
 - 3. The committee will comprise individuals who have a record of research/scholarship activity in nursing and/or healthcare history.
- C. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment of the Awards Subcommittees:
 - 1. The chairperson, appointed by the president with the approval of the Board, shall serve a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
 - 2. Two (2) individual AAHN members, appointed by the president with the approval of the Board, shall serve as subcommittee members for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
 - 3. The subcommittee will comprise individuals who have a record of research/scholarship activity in nursing and/or healthcare history.

Section 4 — Publications Committee

A. Responsibilities:

1. Administer publications authorized by the Board.

- 2. Oversee contract negotiations and make recommendations to the Board for final approval.
 - a. Make recommendations to the editors of the various publications.
 - b. Act as an intermediary between the Board and the editors as appropriate.
 - c. Periodically evaluate publications and provide appropriate feedback.
 - d. Identify methods to increase circulation of publications.
 - e. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.
- B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:
 - 1. The elected director of publications will serve as chair.
 - 2. Two (2) individual AAHN members, appointed by the president with approval by the Board, shall serve as committee members for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
 - 3. Editors of each of AAHN's publications shall serve as committee members.
 - 4. The editors of the publications shall be appointed by the president with approval by the Board. The Editors may serve until their successors are appointed. Terms of appointment are negotiated by the president.

Section 5 — Finance Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Make recommendations to the Board for investment guidelines for Association financial resources.
- 2. Make recommendations to the Board for raising funds for AAHN.
- 3. Make recommendations to the Board for acquisition of fixed assets.
- 4. Receive and recommend an annual budget, inclusive of all publications, the annual meeting, awards, and all other budget considerations, for full Board approval.
- 5. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.
- B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:
 - 1. The elected treasurer shall serve as chair.
 - 2. The elected director of finance shall serve as a committee member for a two (2) year term.
 - 3. One (1) individual AAHN member, appointed by the president with the approval of the Board, shall serve as committee members for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
 - 4. The executive director shall serve as a non-voting committee member.

Section 6 — Bylaws and Policies Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Review and propose amendments or recommend revisions of the Bylaws to the Board as the needs of AAHN dictate.
- 2. Review and recommend policies and/or the amendment of existing policies to the Board as the needs of AAHN dictate.
- 3. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.
- B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:

- 1. The elected director of bylaws and policies shall serve as chair.
- 2. The president shall appoint, with approval of the Board, individual AAHN members to serve as committee members on an ad hoc basis at the request of the committee chairperson for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.

Section 7 — Research Review Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Review the applications for funding for all research on the history of nursing and health care sponsored by AAHN.
- 2. Solicit applications for research grants.
- 3. Select the recipients of the grants.
- 4. Notify the Board of the recipients.
- 5. Arrange for presentation of the grants to the recipients.
- 6. Review, revise, and/or develop procedures and criteria for funding decisions subject to approval by the Board.
- 7. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.

B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:

- 1. The elected director of research shall serve as chair.
- 2. Three (3) individual AAHN members, appointed by the president with approval of the Board, shall serve a as committee members for a two (2) year term, or until a successor(s) is appointed.
- 3. The committee will be comprised of experienced historians who have obtained funding from peer-reviewed sources and have a record of research productivity.

Section 8 — Communications Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Ensure timely communication to the membership.
- 2. Promote the activities of the Association through electronic and social media to increase visibility of the Association to members, health care organizations, and the general public.
- 3. Select a variety of communication modalities relevant to 21st Century communication and evaluate their applicability to achieve the purposes and strategic planning initiatives of the Association.
- 4. Monitor social network sites for appropriateness and currency of communication/content.
- 5. Monitor the Association website for navigability, currency, and relevance of editorial content.
- 6. Explore new communication partnerships with other relevant organizations to increase Association visibility.
- 7. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.

B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:

1. The elected director of communications shall serve as chair.

- 2. Three (3) individual AAHN members, appointed by the president with the approval of the Board, shall serve as committee members for a two (2) year term, or until a successor(s) is appointed.
- 3. A representative from the management company shall provide technical support and serve as a committee member without vote.

Section 9 — Diversity and Inclusion Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Regularly assess and evaluate experiences of the membership related to diversity, inclusivity, and equity.
- 2. Develop and implement strategies that will contribute to the membership's experiences regarding diversity, inclusion, and equity at conferences and within the organization.
- 3. Recommend and implement policies to ensure that each member's experience is inclusive.
- 4. Actively welcome and recruit members from a broader array of professional and academic backgrounds.
- 5. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.

B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:

- 1. The elected director of diversity and inclusion shall serve as chair.
- 2. At least two (2) individual AAHN members shall be recommended to the president by the chairperson for appointment, with approval of the Board, to serve as committee members for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.

Section 10 — Nominating Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Prepare a slate of consenting candidates, each having submitted a completed Consent to Serve form.
- 2. Verify eligibility of all candidates to serve if elected.
- 3. Submit a report of the nominees to the president.
- 4. Forward slate, ballot, Consent to Serve forms and biographical forms to the executive director secretary for preparation and distribution to the members.
- 5. Conduct the election in accordance with the policies of AAHN.
- 6. Report results of the election to the president, who will report to the Board and to the membership in accordance with the policies of AAHN.

B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:

- 1. Individual AAHN members who have been members in good standing for a minimum of two (2) years shall be eligible to serve on the Nominating Committee.
- 2. The Nominating Committee shall be composed of four (4) elected members. Two (2) members shall be elected in odd years, and two (2) members shall be elected in even years, or until a successor(s) is elected or appointed as applicable.
- 3. Each year, the committee shall elect a chairperson from among the committee members.

- 4. A member elected to serve on the Nominating Committee shall not be eligible to be nominated as a candidate or apply for nomination as a candidate for any elected position during that term unless that member officially resigns from the committee.
- 5. A vacancy in the Nominating Committee shall be filled by the Board with an individual nominee recommended by the Nominating Committee.
- 6. In the event of a member not performing his or her duties, the Board shall declare a vacancy and fill the position with an individual nominee recommended by the Nominating Committee.

Section 11 — Membership Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Developing and implementing a plan for membership growth and retention.
- 2. Utilizing the strategic plan as a source for direction on membership initiatives.
- 3. Developing, implementing, and monitoring marketing programs to promote membership to prospective members.
- 4. Identifying the need for additional and improved member services and benefits.
- 5. Receiving and addressing input from Association members.
- 6. Recommending to the Board changes in member categories, as appropriate.
- 7. Recommending to the Board special membership promotion as and/or campaigns.
- 8. Collaborate with the Communications Committee, as appropriate, to disseminate appropriate messaging through social media and other channels.
- 9. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.

B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:

- 1. The elected director of membership shall serve as chair.
- 2. The chair's term shall be for two years or until the President of the Board of Directors chooses a successor.
- 3. The chair shall be elected in even years.
- 4. At least two (2) individual AAHN members shall be recommended to the president by the chairperson for appointment, with approval of the Board, to serve as committee members for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
- 5. The Association's Executive Director is an Ex Officio member or their designee.
- 6. The Communications Committee Chair or their designee shall be a member.

Section 12— Nursing History Education Committee

A. Responsibilities:

- 1. Regularly assess the perspectives and needs of academic nurse educators related to teaching nursing history in undergraduate and graduate nursing education curricula.
- 2. Develop and implement teaching/learning resources and educational sessions in collaboration with membership, utilizing their expertise and scholarship to support teaching nursing history in undergraduate and graduate nursing education.
- 3. Explore new partnerships with other relevant organizations to increase academic nurse educators' exposure to nursing history content and teaching resources.

- 4. Promote nursing history content and teaching/learning strategies relevant for undergraduate and graduate nursing education curricula.
- 5. Assume responsibilities and duties as assigned by the Board.
- B. Composition, Appointment, and Period of Appointment:
 - 1. The elected director of nursing history education shall serve as chair.
 - 2. At least four (4) individual AAHN members shall be recommended to the president by the chairperson for appointment, with approval of the Board, to serve as committee members for a two (2) year term, or until a successor is appointed.
 - 3. The chair shall be elected in odd years.
 - 4. A representative from the management company shall provide technical support and serve as a committee member without a vote.

Revised 9/2024

Revised 7/2020

Revised 8/2015

Revised 9/2011

Revised 9/2009

Revised 4/2007

Revised 10/3/2004

Revised 9/2002

Total revision adopted 10/03/99

Revised 10/97

Revised 10/96

Revised 9/93

Revised 6/92

Revised 1987